IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner,

v. 258 Fla. Supreme Court Case No. SC06-Lower Tribunal Case No. 2D04-1006

GREGORY CARNELL WEAVER, Respondent.

> DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

/

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0238538

CERESE CRAWFORD TAYLOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0990760 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-7900 Fax (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent and his brother, Thomas Weaver, were both charged with battery on a law enforcement officer arising from an altercation between police and the brothers at Respondent's apartment complex. The Information charged both brothers with "knowingly, unlawfully, and intentionally touch[ing] or strik[ing]" a law enforcement officer. (R. at 9-10). The brothers were charged, tried and convicted together. (R. at 9-13, 37).

The brothers were involved in moving Respondent's belongings out of his apartment, at the Villa Palms apartment, when the altercation occurred. (Trial Tr., p. 92). According to a defense witness, Respondent had a fight with his girlfriend earlier in the evening and was moving out his belongings. (Trial Tr., p. 173-174). This witness testified that Respondent's girlfriend and sister got into a shouting match and that the crowd formed in response to the arrival of police. (Trial Tr., p. 173-174). Respondent's mother also testified that the family was helping Respondent move from the home he shared with his girlfriend. (Trial Tr., p. 189). State witnesses testified that a loud, raucous crowd gathered and apartment security, unable to control the crowd, contacted

police. (Trial Tr., p. 92). The time was approximately 10:30 p.m. (R. 8).

Officer Bennett was the first officer to respond to the call from apartment security. When he arrived at the apartment complex he encountered a large group of people yelling and behaving in a hostile manner. (Trial Tr., p. 107-108). He attempted to disperse the group, directing individuals to either return to their homes or leave the premises. (Trial Tr., p. 109). In this capacity, Officer Bennett encountered Thomas Weaver, Respondent's brother. (Trial Tr., p. 109). Upon determining that Thomas was not a resident, the officer directed Thomas to wait by the patrol car, a command Thomas disregarded. (Trial Tr., p. 109-113). When the officer attempted to restrain Thomas, Thomas threw hot coffee in the officer's face. (Trial Tr., p. 113). А scuffle then followed with Officer Bennett attempting to restrain Thomas and advising him not to resist arrest. (Trial Tr., p. 113-116). Throughout the encounter, Thomas continued to struggle with Officer Bennett. (Trial Tr., p. 119).

Ultimately, back up officers arrived and Officer Bennett was able to subdue Thomas. (Trial Tr., p. 119). Officer Bennett was not injured and did not suffer any bodily harm as a result of the altercation. (Trial Tr., p. 110-115; 133-134).

Officer Feenaughty was among the back up officers who arrived at the scene. (Trial Tr., p. 138). He also testified as to the large and hostile nature of the crowd. (Trial Tr., p. 138). As he attempted to control the crowd, Officer Feenaughty's attention was drawn to Respondent who was acting in a loud and belligerent manner. (Trial Tr., p. 140). Believing that Respondent was instigating the crowd's behavior, Officer Feenaughty approached Respondent to get him to cease. (Trial Tr., p. 140). When Respondent refused to obey the officer's command, the officer grabbed him and tried to separate Respondent from the group. (Trial Tr., p. 141-142). Respondent pushed back against the officer, then used his hand to strike the officer. (Trial Tr., p. 143).

Having removed Respondent to the edge of the crowd, Feenaughty waded back into the crowd to aid Officer Bennett. (Trial Tr., p. 143). Respondent again became loud and returned to the group. (Trial Tr., p. 143). For a second time Feenaughty removed Respondent from the group and was met by Respondent's blow. (Trial Tr., p. 143-144). Thereupon, Respondent was placed under arrest. (Trial Tr., p. 144).

Both of the brothers' parents testified at trial, stating that the family arrived at Respondent's apartment around 10:30 at night to help him move. (Trial Tr., p. 223). The father

confirmed that a altercation arose between Respondent's girlfriend and sister. (Trial Tr., p. 225). Finally, Thomas testified that he was rushed by Officer Bennett and the coffee he was carrying spilled. (Trial Tr., p. 241). He denied throwing the coffee and resisting arrest. (Trial Tr., p. 243). He was unable to testify regarding his brother's actions. (Trial Tr., p. 244). Respondent did not testify. (Trial Tr., p. 221).

In closing argument, the State advised the jury of the elements of battery, focusing on its evidence of intentional touching. The State made no argument or suggestion that either officer suffered bodily injury. (Trial Tr., p. 269-272).

The court instructed the jury on the battery charge against that Respondent, that he:

intentionally touched or struck David Feenaughty against his will or caused bodily harm to David Feenaughty.

(Trial Tr., p. 279).

The court instructed the jury on the battery charge against Thomas Weaver, that he:

intentionally touched or struck Kevin Bennett against his will or caused bodily harm to Kevin Bennett.

(Trial Tr., p. 278).

The defense did not object to the jury instructions. (Trial Tr., p. 288). The jury returned a verdict against both brothers of guilty of "battery on a law enforcement officer as charged." (Trial Tr., p. 293). Respondent and Thomas Weaver were sentenced on February 5, 2004. Based on his criminal history, Respondent received 35.55 months incarceration. (R. 53; Sentencing Hearing, p. 98). Thomas Weaver, who had no criminal past, received 24 months probation. (Sentencing Hearing, p. 81).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellate review of an error alleged to have occurred at trial must, generally, have been preserved by contemporaneous objection. <u>Reed v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2002). Absent such objection, review is available only if the error is fundamental. Id. at 370.

"[N]ot all harmful error is fundamental." <u>Id</u>. Fundamental error is a class of error that "reach[es] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." <u>Reed</u>, 837 So. 2d at 369-370. Hence, by its very nature all fundamental error must be harmful error. Error which does not satisfy the fundamental standard "is subject to review in accord with <u>State v.</u> DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986)." Id.

The narrow applicability of the fundamental error standard has led to rejection of the claim where a jury was erroneously instructed as to the elements of an offense.

<u>Reed</u>, 837 So. 2d at 369-370. Rejection of a fundamental error claim in these circumstances results when the erroneous instruction did not pertain to an issue in dispute. <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1991); <u>Reed</u>, 837 So. 2d at 369-370. It follows, then, that a jury

б

instruction which contains alternative methods of committing a crime does not constitute fundamental error when the evidence "deal[s] exclusively with a single alternative." <u>Roberson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 841 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (en banc), <u>review</u> denied, 848 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 2003).

Florida Statutes provides that battery on a law enforcement officer can be accomplished either by intentional touching or by inflicting bodily harm. § 784.03, Fla. Stat. (2003). <u>Weaver</u> addresses the circumstance where the jury is instructed on both alternatives. Fundamental error does not arise from this error when no evidence was presented in support of the alternate instruction. When the Information charging the crime and the evidence supporting the crime pertain exclusively to a single manner of committing the battery, it is not reasonable to conclude that a jury convicted a defendant on the alternative method. <u>Roberson</u>, 841 So. 2d at 493. Absent evidence of such a conviction, an alternative battery instruction does not result in prejudice to a defendant.

Under <u>Reed</u>, absent prejudice, no claim of fundamental error can lie. The Second District erred in foregoing application of this precedent and reversing Respondent's conviction based on the authority of <u>Vega v. State</u>, 900 So. 2d

572 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) and <u>Dixon v. State</u>, 823 So. 2d 792 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

ARGUMENT

INSTRUCTING A JURY ON ALTERNATE FORMS OF COMMITTING BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WHEN THE INFORMATION AND THE EVIDENCE PERTAIN EXCLUSIVELY TO A SINGLE FORM OF THE CRIME DOES NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

At issue in this case is whether, in light of this Court's decision in <u>Reed v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2002), it is fundamental error to instruct the jury on alternate forms of committing a battery on a law enforcement officer, when only one form was charged in the Information. The opinion below, <u>Weaver v. State</u>, 916 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005)(<u>Weaver I</u>), as well as the Second District's identical holding in <u>Weaver v. State</u>, 31 Fla. Law Weekly D 336 (Fla. 2d DCA February 1, 2006)(<u>Weaver II</u>)(pertaining to the conviction of Respondent's brother) (the opinions for both hereinafter referred to collectively as "<u>Weaver</u>"), makes clear that the district courts are in need of guidance as to the continued viability of the fundamental error doctrine in such circumstances.

Respondent was arrested and charged with battery on a law enforcement officer following an altercation at Respondent's home. On appeal, Respondent argued "that the trial court committed fundamental error by instructing the jury that it could convict him of battery by causing bodily harm or by

intentional touching, when the Information alleged only an intentional touching."

The Second District began its analysis by recalling its previous decisions in <u>Vega</u> and <u>Dixon</u>¹. Judge Altenbernd, writing for the district court, found <u>Dixon</u> and <u>Vega</u>, on which the court relied, were grounded in the principal that it is fundamental error to convict a defendant of a crime with which he has not been charged. Despite this context, the court noted that "the evidence at trial [in this case] was directed solely to the 'intentional touching' form of battery." <u>Weaver</u>, 916 So. 2d at 897. Thus, "[i]t [was] improbable, to say the least, that the jury convicted Gregory Weaver based solely upon the alternative provided in the jury instruction without any evidence to support that alternative." <u>Id</u>. at 897.

While its own analysis suggested that no fundamental error occurred, the Second District, perceiving itself "constrained, [] by [its] precedents in <u>Dixon</u> and <u>Vega</u>," reversed Respondent's conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer. However, based on its reservations and its belief that the Criminal Appeal Reform Act, and this Court's interpretation of that Act in Reed "call[ed] into

 $^{^1}$ This Court's <u>Weaver</u> cases were premised on <u>Vega v.</u> <u>State</u>, 900 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) and <u>Dixon v. State</u>, 823 So. 2d 792 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

question the rule of law that [was] followed in this case," the Second District certified the following question:

> DOES A TRIAL COURT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN IT INSTRUCTS A JURY REGARDING BOTH "BODILY HARM" BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER AND "INTENTIONAL TOUCHING" BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WHEN THE INFORMATION CHARGED ONLY ONE FORM OF THE CRIME AND NO EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED NOR ARGUMENT MADE REGARDING THE ALTERNATE FORM?

<u>Weaver</u>, 916 So. 2d at 898-899. Based on <u>Reed</u>, this question must be answered in the negative.

The crime of battery on a law enforcement officer occurs when a defendant actually or intentionally touches an officer or intentionally causes an officer bodily harm. § 784.03, Fla. Stat. (2003). Prior to <u>Weaver</u>, the Second District addressed the issue raised by the alternative instruction for battery on a law enforcement officer in <u>Vega</u> and <u>Dixon</u>. <u>Dixon</u>, which was written before <u>Reed</u>, concluded that the error in instructing on both battery alternatives was fundamental "because the jury's general verdict makes it impossible to know whether Dixon was convicted of the offense with which he was charged." <u>Dixon</u>, 823 So. 2d at 794. <u>Vega</u>, written after this Court's <u>Reed</u> decision, nevertheless reversed the conviction based on the authority of <u>Dixon</u>. In this case, the Second District elected to side with its own precedent and eschew application

of Reed to the fundamental error analysis before it.

The Second District erroneously concludes that this Court's <u>Reed</u> decision does not compel affirmance of Respondent's conviction. A review of that decision demonstrates that <u>Reed</u> was intended to limit the applicability of the fundamental error doctrine and to promote the Legislature's intention to stringently apply the contemporaneous objection rule. Absent objection, failure to instruct the jury on an essential element is fundamental error "only when the omission is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict"; such as when an element of the offense is in dispute. (Internal citation omitted)." Reed, 837 So. 2d at 366, 369.

The <u>Reed</u> Court's analysis was firmly based on this Court's decision in <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1991). The Court acknowledged the conclusion that fundamental error does not occur if the failed instruction does not pertain to an issue in dispute:

> [was] required by and follows [this Court's] decision in <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1991). [In which] [w]e expressly recognized a distinction regarding fundamental error between a disputed element of a crime and an element of a crime about which there is no dispute in the case.

Reed, 837 So. 2d at 369-370.

This Court then:

"[took] this occasion to clarify that fundamental error is not subject to harmless error review. By its very nature, fundamental error has to be considered harmful. If the error was not harmful, it would not meet our requirement for being fundamental. Again, we refer to what we said in <u>Delva</u>. . ..

<u>Reed</u>, 837 So. 2d at 369-370. Accordingly, this Court "recede[d] from <u>State v. Clark</u>, 614 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 1992), to the extent that it holds that fundamental error can be harmless error.

<u>Delva</u> was recently cited again for this same proposition in <u>Battle</u>, where an element of the felony murder charge was omitted from the jury instructions. <u>Battle v. State</u>, 911 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 2005); <u>see also Glover v. State</u>, 863 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 2003)(in reliance on <u>Reed</u>, finding that any error in failing to instruct the jury that the defendant's age was an element of the offense was harmless, and therefore, did not constitute fundamental error).

The Second District's own precedent reflects its cognizance of this Court's <u>Delva</u> and <u>Reed</u> decisions and the Second District's analytical conflict in rejecting <u>Reed</u> in favor of its own precedent.

In <u>Vega</u>² and <u>Ayala</u>³, as well as the two <u>Weaver</u> decisions, the Second District questioned whether <u>Reed</u> had nullified the court's own opinions on the issue of fundamental error as it relates to jury instructions. Despite its express reservations, the Second District was unwilling to so interpret <u>Reed</u> without direct guidance from this Court. In <u>Vega</u>, Judge Altenbernd, concurring, concluded that a fundamental error analysis is inappropriate in a case where the appeal is premised upon an erroneous, but harmless, jury instruction. As occurred in this case, the <u>Vega</u> jury was instructed on guilt based on intentional touching or intentionally causing bodily harm. Given, however, that the evidence was merely of intentional touching, without any

² 900 So. 2d at 573-574(Alternbernd, J., concurring and "question[ing] . . . whether <u>Dixon</u> contains a description of fundamental error that is still accurate. . . .If I had the option, I would be willing to rule that the giving of this jury instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in the context of this case.")

³ 28 F.L.W. D2283 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)(Alternbernd, J., concurring and expressing his uncertainty that <u>Reed</u> had effectively overruled the precedent on which the court was intending to rely and stating "I would dissent if I could convince myself that <u>Reed</u> had effectively overruled <u>Looney</u>. Although I believe that <u>Looney</u> is inconsistent with <u>Reed</u>, I conclude that this court must follow <u>Looney</u> or recede from <u>Looney</u> in an en banc opinion). Concluding that an alternate analysis existed, the Second District withdrew its opinion discussing <u>Reed</u> and substituted the opinion reported at 879 So. 2d 1(Fla. 2d DCA 2004).

suggestion of bodily harm, the concurring opinion concluded that a fundamental error analysis was inappropriate.

Judge Altenbernd then, in reliance on <u>Glover</u> and <u>Reed</u>, went on to state that, "[i]n light of recent cases, [he was] inclined to believe that most, if not all, errors that are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in their context should not be treated as fundamental errors." <u>Vega</u>, 900 So. 2d at 573-74. He concluded that "[i]f all fundamental error must be harmful and this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, then it seems []that this error was not fundamental and we should affirm all judgments and sentences in this case." <u>Id</u>. at 574. Nevertheless, constrained by <u>Dixon</u>, Judge Alternbernd concurred in the majority's reversal of Vega's conviction.

The need for guidance on the certified question is further illustrated by the uneven manner in which <u>Delva</u> and <u>Reed</u> are being applied within the Second District. <u>Williams</u> <u>v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), which preceded <u>Dixon</u>, <u>Vega</u> and <u>Reed</u>, found the Second District applying <u>Delva</u> to deny reversal of a conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer. The Second District, relying on <u>Delva</u>, affirmed the conviction, reasoning that the erroneous instruction, which related to an undisputed element of the pending charge, did not constitute fundamental error.

Williams, 614 So. 2d at 641.

Recent decisions in both Pena v. State, 829 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), approved, 901 So. 2d 781 (Fla. 2005) and Battle v. State, 837 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), approved, 911 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 2005), also demonstrate the Second District's willingness to apply the fundamental error analysis established by this Court in Reed. In Pena, the court held it was not fundamental error to omit the instructions on excusable and justifiable homicide where the defendant was charged and convicted of first degree murder and the factual circumstances did not support any jury argument relying upon excusable or justifiable homicide jury instructions. See also, Guardiola v. State, 884 So. 2d 140 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). In Battle, the court found there was no fundamental error in an attempted felony murder jury instruction, despite the failure to give a complete jury instruction on an essential element of the crime, where that element was not in dispute.

Despite its holdings in these decisions, the Second District has concluded in <u>Weaver</u>, <u>Dixon</u> and <u>Vega</u> that <u>Reed</u> does not overrule the Second District's precedent pertaining to erroneous battery jury instructions. This decision is not only erroneous. It also creates a per-se reversible error analysis which is elevated above this Court's own fundamental

error analysis. As Judge Altenbernd has repeatedly noted, clarification on this issue is necessary.

As this Court reasoned in <u>Reed</u>, jury instructions are subject to contemporaneous objection and, absent such, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred. <u>Reed</u>, 837 So. 2d at 370. The facts must reflect an error that is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict before it can be deemed fundamental. <u>Id</u>. Hence, "to justify not imposing the contemporaneous objection rule, 'the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'[internal citations omitted]." <u>Id</u>. The evidence does not support such an error in this case.

This is not a case where Respondent was convicted of an uncharged crime. The evidence against Respondent and Thomas Weaver was consistently related to battery based on intentional touching. Neither officer made a claim of bodily harm. Nor did the State argue that such harmed occurred during its closing remarks. Thus, the surplusage in the jury instruction related to battery by bodily harm was not material to the relevant evidence the jury had to consider in order to convict. This conclusion rebuts any claim that Respondent was

prejudiced by the jury instruction presented in this case.

As explained in <u>Roberson</u>, 841 So. 2d at 493,⁴ it is not reasonable to assume alternative instructions would lead a jury to convict a defendant when the evidence dealt exclusively with a single alternative. The Second District's opinion candidly admits this is so. Hence, it is the stumbling block of precedent, which has been implicitly, but not expressly overruled, that drives the outcome in this case and that of Thomas Weaver.

A claim of fundamental error must be evaluated based on the record, and the record must demonstrate the harm before relief can be accorded. "[N]ot all harmful error is fundamental. Error which does not meet the exacting standard so as to be 'fundamental' is subject to review in accord with <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986)." <u>Reed</u>, 837 So. 2d at 369-370; <u>see also Vega</u>, 900 So. 2d at 574 (containing the identical conclusion that a traditional harmless error analysis under <u>DiGuilio</u> is appropriate where no actual harm arises from the erroneous instruction). The <u>Weaver</u> court conducted such an analysis and confirmed that under a traditional harmless error analysis, it would conclude

⁴ <u>Roberson</u>, 841 So. 2d at 493 (rejecting fundamental error claim involving "remaining in" burglary jury instruction where evidence supported solely one of two alternative manners

beyond a reasonable doubt the error did not affect the verdict.

<u>Weaver</u>, <u>Dixon</u> and <u>Vega</u> reflect that the District Court is in

conflict as to the effect of <u>Reed</u> on jury instructions which are claimed as fundamental error, but which do not result in actual prejudice to a defendant. These decisions effectively create a per-se rule which is expressly contrary to this Court's decisions in <u>Delva</u> and <u>Reed</u>. The State urges this Court to answer the certified question in the negative, to expressly rule that <u>Reed v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2002), overrules <u>Weaver</u>, <u>Dixon</u> and <u>Vega</u>, and to hold that the jury instruction given in this case did not constitute fundamental error.

CONCLUSION

of committing burglary).

In conclusion, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court find that <u>Reed v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2002), compels reversal of the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in this case.