#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No.SC06-0258

GREGORY WEAVER, :

Respondent. :

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN C. FISHER
Assistant Public Defender
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0999865

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

## TOPICAL

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Statement of Case and Facts in the State's Initial Brief is substantially correct.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury instructions given on battery on a law enforcement officer constitute fundamental error because the jury was instructed on an uncharged version of that offense. Respondent was charged with battery on a law enforcement officer based solely on "intentionally touching or striking," but the jury was instructed on both forms of the offense, "intentionally touching or striking" and "causing bodily harm." A conviction of an uncharged offense violates due process. A verdict resulting from a jury instruction on an uncharged crime is a nullity. The facts at trial established a battery that was not a mere touching. Jurors may have deduced bodily harm resulted from the battery and they were instructed to consider that form of battery on a law enforcement officer. instruction constitutes fundamental The erroneous error because it is impossible to tell from the general verdict whether the jury unanimously convicted on the basis of the charged form of the offense.

# ARGUMENT ISSUE I

DOES A TRIAL COURT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN IT INSTRUCTS A JURY REGARDING BOTH "BODILY HARM" BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER AND "INTENTIONAL TOUCHING" BATTERY LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER INFORMATION CHARGED ONLY ONE FORM OF CRIME AND NO EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED ARGUMENT MADE REGARDING THE ALTERNATE FORM? (Restated/question certified lower bу court).

A defendant has a constitutional right under the Sixth Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution to unanimous jury verdict when charged with a non-petty criminal offense. Burch v. Louisiana, 441 U.S. 130 (1979). A conviction under a general verdict is improper when it rests on multiple bases, one of which is legally inadequate. Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298 (1957); Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46 (1991) (a general guilty verdict must be set aside where the conviction may have rested on a legally inadequate theory). "[A] conviction on a charge not made by the indictment or information is a denial of due process of law. Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88, 60 S.Ct. 736, 84 L.Ed. 1093 (1940); De Jonge v. Oregon, 299 U.S. 353, 57 S.Ct. 255, 81 L.Ed. 278 (1937)." State v. Gray, 435 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 1983).

Gregory Weaver's conviction is fundamentally flawed and violates due process because there was a general verdict and the jury had been instructed it could convict him of battery

on a law enforcement officer jury by causing bodily harm or by intentional touching, but the information alleged only an intentional touching. Gregory and Thomas Weaver were charged with: obstructing or opposing an officer with violence in (Thomas Weaver only); battery on a law enforcement officer by knowingly, unlawfully, and intentionally touching or striking deputy (Thomas Weaver only); and battery on enforcement officer bу knowingly, unlawfully, intentionally touching or striking a deputy (Gregory Weaver only) (v1/R9-11). On December 16, 2003, the Weaver brothers were tried together before a jury (v2-3/T1-215). The evidence trial established deputies responded to a disturbance at an apartment building and attempted to disperse crowd (v2/T94-95; 107-109, 138-140, 150). When Deputy Bennett attempted to grab Thomas Weaver, Thomas Weaver threw or accidentally spilled hot coffee that probably scalded the deputy's face or the coffee was cold, then Thomas Weaver resisted being handcuffed or did not do so (v2/T95-96, 102, 112-116, 139, 175-178, 191-193; v3/T227-228, 240-243). Deputy Feenaughty ordered Gregory Weaver to cease inciting the crowd, Gregory Weaver refused, Deputy Feenaughty twice pushed Mr. Weaver away from the crowd, and each time Gregory Weaver struck the deputy's torso with both hands and "with a good amount of force" (v2/T141-144, 150, 194-195; v2/T230-231). The trial court instructed the jury, without defense objection, to convict if the State proved Gregory Weaver, "intentionally touched or stuck David Feenaughty against his will or caused bodily harm to David Feenaughty. (v1/R26; v3/T279). The jury returned a general verdict of guilty of "battery on a law enforcement officer, as charged." (v1/R37; v3/T293).

42 C.J.S. Indictments and Informations § 261 states:
"... Where a statute penalizes certain acts in
the disjunctive, proof of any one of such acts
under an indictment charging all of the acts
conjunctively is . . . sufficient; but if the
indictment alleges only one state of facts proof
of the existence of another state of facts will
not sustain a conviction."

See also 17 Fla. Jur. Indictments and Information §§ 94 and 95.

Jimenez v. State, 231 So. 2d 26, 27 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). See Warren v. State, 635 So. 2d 122 (Fla. 1st 1994). "The [Florida] constitution guarantees to every accused person ... the right to know 'the nature and cause of the accusation against him,' and it necessarily follows that the accused cannot be indicted for one offense and convicted and sentenced for another, even though the offenses are closely related and of the same general nature or character and punishable by the same grade of punishment." Penny v. State, 140 Fla. 155, 161, 191 193 190, (1939).So.

Atwell v. State, 739 So. 2d 1166, 1168 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

Battery on a law enforcement officer can be committed either by "actually or intentionally touching or striking the officer against the officer's will, or by intentionally causing bodily harm to the officer." Hendricks v. State, 744 So. 2d 542, 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); see §§ 784.03(1)(a), .07(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (2001). A defendant entitled to have the jury instructed on the offense with which he is charged. Dixon v. State, 823 So. 2d 792, 794 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) (citing Zwick v. State, So. 2d 759 730 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)), review dismissed, 819 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 2002).

Vega v. State, 900 So. 2d 572, 573 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004).

A trial court's decision on the giving or

withholding of a proposed jury instruction reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard of review. See Bozeman v. State, 714 So. 2d 570, 572 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). A trial court "should not give instructions which are confusing, contradictory, or misleading." Mogavero v. State, 744 So. 2d 1048, 1049 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (quoting Butler v. State, 493 So. 2d 451, 452 (Fla. 1986). Reversible error occurs when an instruction is not only an erroneous or incomplete statement of the law, but is also confusing or misleading. See id at 1050. (citing Gross v. Lyons, 721 So. 2d 304, 306 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), approved, 763 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 2000). The test is not whether a particular jury was actually misled, but instead the inquiry is whether the jury might reasonably have been misled. See id. When a court erroneously charges a jury on the elements of a crime, the harmless error doctrine should be great invoked with caution. See id.

McKenzie v. State, 830 So.2d 234, 236-237 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

instructions are subject to contemporaneous objection rule, and absent such an objection at the trial, errors in instructions cannot be raised on appeal unless fundamental error occurred. State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644 (Fla. 1991); Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). A defendant has a fundamental right to have a court correctly and intelligently instruct the jury on the essential, material elements of the crime charged and required to be proven by competent evidence. Delva, 575 So. 2d at 644; Gerds v. State, 64 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1953). A defendant cannot be convicted of a crime that was not charged. Dixon, 823 So. 2d [792] at 794 [Fla. 2d DCA 2001]; O'Bryan v. State, 692 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). Fundamental error occurs when the court fails to instruct on element of the crime that was disputed at trial. Reed [v. State], 837 So. 2d [366] at 369 (Fla. 2002); Delva, 575 So. 2d at 644-645; Simmons v. State, 780 So. 2d 263, 266 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). Likewise, expanding the definition of a crime beyond that which is charged in the information, resulting in a conviction of a crime not charged, fundamental error. Dixon, 823 So. 2d at 794; Zwick v. State, 730 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

Griffis v. State, 848 So. 2d 422, 427 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003)

(emphasis added). "Where instructions for a different crime from that with which a defendant is charged and convicted are read to the jury, the verdict as to that crime is a nullity." Gaines v. State, 652 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995).

Instructing a jury on a crime that was not charged in the information is fundamental error. Vega v. State, 900 So. 2d 572, 573 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) ("Because Vega was not charged with committing battery on a law enforcement officer by intentionally causing bodily harm, it was error for the trial court to instruct the jury on this alternative. As the State rightly concedes, this error is fundamental because the jury returned a general verdict of guilt without specifying the basis for the conviction, making it impossible to know whether Vega was convicted of the form of battery with which he was charged rather than the form with which he was not charged."); Dixon v. State, 823 So. 2d 792, 794 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) ("Here, the jury was improperly instructed on the bodily harm form of battery although Dixon was not charged with that form of battery. See Hendricks v. State, 744 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). This error is fundamental because the jury's general verdict makes it impossible to know whether Dixon convicted of the offense with which he was charged, i.e., intentional touching battery, or an offense with which he was not charged, i.e., bodily harm battery."); Zwick v. State, 730 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) ("Because the general verdict

in the instant case makes it impossible to determine whether the jury found Zwick guilty of uncharged acts, we must reverse the convictions for counts two through five of the information."); O'Bryan v. State, 692 So. 2d 290, 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) ("Although one of the crimes on which the court instructed conformed to the information, the court failed to instruct on the information's alternative offense and instead instructed on an uncharged offense. The jury's general verdict makes it impossible to determine of which offense appellant was found guilty.").

The jury was instructed to find each brother guilty of battery on a law enforcement officer based on bodily harm, and it is unwarranted to suppose no juror deduced that bodily harm resulted from scalding hot coffee thrown in a deputy's face (v1/113, 178) or from repeatedly and forcefully striking a deputy's torso with both hands (v1/142). It is likely that in most battery cases the facts would support the jury deducing that there was some bodily harm, and that is certainly so in the instant case.

"Because the court instructed the jury on a crime not charged, the resulting verdict is a nullity. Gaines v. State, 652 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Moore v. State, 496 So. 2d 255, 256 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) ('A verdict which finds a person guilty of a crime with which the accused was not charged is a nullity.')." O'Bryan v. State, 692 So. 2d 290, 291 (Fla. 1st

DCA 1997). The cause should be affirmed.

### CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments, and authorities, Appellee asks this Honorable Court to affirm the ruling of the lower court.